
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Gravesham Joint 
Transportation Board

Members of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Gravesend, 
Kent on Wednesday, 1 December 2021 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following 
agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 10)

3. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest members should state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public 

5. Matters Arising from Previous Meetings (Pages 11 - 16)

6. Recommendations for decision by Kent County Council 

7. Recommendations for decisions by the Council 

8. Issues raised by Councillors with the approval of the Chair 



Requests from Cllr Tony Rana 

Old Road East - A number of residents have complained regarding the 
speed of vehicles on the road especially when leaving Echo square.

Update Requested from the Kent Highway officers of the Whitehill / Sun 
lane changes requested at Gravesham JTB earlier this year.

Requests from Cllr Conrad Broadley 

1. Firstly I would like to raise concerns about the major impact the 
below detailed double yellow lines will have on the residents of 
the Northern end of Dover Road, it seems that none of the 
residents were aware of the fact that these parking spaces will be 
removed so I would question the validity of the consultation, I did 
today actually go and knock on the doors opposite the proposed 
double yellow lines and nobody I spoke to had received any 
notification of the impending loss of 10 or more parking spaces, 
the issue of pavement parking can be tackled in other ways 
including simple signage and white lining to ensure a clear route 
for prams and wheelchairs is left. Aside from the lack of 
consultation it is actually useful to have traffic calming in the form 
of parked vehicles to slow traffic down on what is a residential 
road. I would ask that the implementation of the double yellow 
lines is suspended until we have full resident engagement and a 
non-punitive solution is in place that does not needlessly penalise 
the residents that have used this area for the past 60 or so years.

2. I would like to raise the issue of parking on the whole length of 
Dover Road on the Western side between Rural Vale and 
Shepherd Street, the current restrictions are non sensical and 
were time expired when the Dover Road bypass was put in back 
in the 1980’s namely the A226 Thames Way, I would ask that we 
actually further engage with the public with a public consultation 
and resolve this long standing issue with a more creative and 
resident friendly solution, this will also resolve this stretch being 
used as a race track. I will declare an interest but I have been 
harangued enough by residents and neighbours to be able to 
legitimately raise this as an issue

3. Rumble strips on Springhead Parkway, these were installed as 
part of the new 
development and are causing a nuisance to local residents, now 
that the new bridge has been opened near Ebbsfleet and 
Springhead Parkway is a through route busses and vehicles are 
not slowing down on this route and creating a nuisance for 
residents with the vibrations in their houses and potentially long 
term structural damage, these rumble strips have been an issue 
for several years with no sign of any resolution in place.



Request raised by Cllr Bryan Sweetland 

As this meeting in not governed by legislation, I propose that all future 
JTB meetings are vertical meetings using MS Teams.

Request raised by Cllr Gurbax Singh 

KCC has recently completed their 2nd public consultation for London 
Road cycle route under which they are proposing one way system for 
Beresford Road and Marina Drive also taking way 19 car parking bays 
from London Road 
The consultation link is below 

https://letstalk.kent.gov.uk/gravesham-gravesend-to-northfleet

There has been huge opposition among residents especially on Marina 
drive as this proposal is pushing yet more traffic (already done previously 
when St Marks was converted into one way road) to the already narrow 
and bendy Marina Drive.

The proposal also removes couple of bus stops on London Road and 
suggest St James Road to be one way.

Please could KCC provide a response. 

9. Reports from Officers 

a) Gravesham Highway Forward Works Programme - 2021/22 
onwards

(Pages 17 - 32)

b) Local Winter Service Plan (Pages 33 - 34)

10.Petition - Painters Ash Primary School (Pages 35 - 52)

11.Any Other Business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

12.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

https://letstalk.kent.gov.uk/gravesham-gravesend-to-northfleet


Members

Cllr Peter Scollard (Chair)
County Councillor Conrad Broadley (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Brian Francis
Leslie Hills
Nirmal Khabra
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade (KCC)
Alan Ridgers (KCC) 
Lauren Sullivan (KCC)
Bryan Sweetland (KCC)

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Gravesham Joint Transportation Board

Tuesday, 08 September 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Peter Scollard (Chair) 
County Cllr Conrad Broadley (Vice-Chair) 

Councillors: Brian Francis
Leslie Hills
Nirmal Khabra
Jordan Meade (KCC) 
Alan Ridgers (KCC) 
Lauren Sullivan (KCC) 

Nick May Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager
Jacqui Elliott Project Manager – Public Transport (KCC)
Ben Clarke Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

1. Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Bob Lane and County Cllr Bryan Sweetland 
(KCC). 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting of the Board held on Tuesday 25 May 2021 were signed by the 
Chair.

3. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda.   When declaring an interest members should state what 
their interest is. 

Cllr Nirmal Khabra declared an other interest as he was a local taxi driver in the Borough of 
Gravesham.

4. Matters Arising from Previous Meetings 

The Chair expressed disappointment that the Dartford & Gravesham District Manager (KCC) 
was not in attendance to give updates on the points raised in the previous minutes and on 
Matters Arising. 

As Dartford & Gravesham District Manager (KCC) was not in attendance to answer 
questions, the Chair asked the Board to roll their question to the next Board meeting or raise 
any concerns now for noting. 

Cllr Hills raised concern regarding the walkway outside of 203 Lower Higham Road as the 
repair work that was promised to be completed by July 2021 had not been carried out; the 

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 8.09.2021

2

previous minutes reflected the original concern raised by Cllr Hills. Cllr Hills advised that the 
owner of 203 Lower Higham Road had passed away, but the pavement still posed a 
significant danger to pedestrians that had to walk over it, particularly with winter approaching 
as there was the potential for ice to form where the water had built up. Cllr Hills had also 
spoken to Claire Venner about the issue and been promised a response. 

The Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager informed the Board that Claire 
Venner had moved areas and was now working in the Tonbridge & Malling area instead of 
Gravesham. The Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager promised to 
circulate details of her replacement to the Board once he had them. 

Cllr Sullivan suggested that Cllr Hills contact Thomas Williams who was a Highways Officer 
at KCC.  

Following a discussion by the Board, concerning the lack of KCC officers in attendance to 
answer important questions, it was agreed that an email would be sent to the Chief 
Executive (KCC) detailing the Boards concerns around the lack of KCC officer attendance 
and lack of responses to issues raised by Members. The Board requested that the email of 
concern be forwarded to the Chief Executive (KCC) by the Chief Executive (GBC) along with 
the minutes/matters arising of this meeting attached to the email with a request to have 
responses to each outstanding action. 

The Chair agreed that there wasn’t an issue with officers joining virtually from home as it was 
good for the environment and allowed officers more flexibility however, they still needed to 
attend all of the Gravesham JTB meetings and provide responses to Members 
questions/issues. 

5. For Information Reports 

5.1 MaaS (Mobility as a Service) Scheme in Gravesham - KCC Presentation 

The Gravesham Joint Transportation Board were given a presentation by the Project 
Manager – Public Transport (KCC). The Project Manager – Public Transport (KCC) drew 
Members attention to the MaaS (Mobility as a Service) Scheme and outlined key points from 
the presentation regarding how the Scheme would operate within Gravesham. 

The presentation could be viewed through the below link: 

 (Public Pack)Supplementary - MaaS Presentation Agenda Supplement for 
Gravesham Joint Transportation Board, 08/09/2021 19:30

Following the presentation, the Project Manager – Public Transport (KCC) fielded questions 
from Members and explained that: 

 As part of the requirement specification, it had been written in that the MaaS partners 
had to accept all of the discount/concessionary charges such as rail cards, Kent 
Saver card, Kent Travel Pass and OAP bus passes etc on all relevant modes of 
transport within the Scheme. It was KCC’s intention that everyone who was entitled 
to concessionary travel would continue to be offered that entitlement in the MaaS 
Scheme 

Page 6

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13963/Supplementary%20-%20MaaS%20Presentation%20Wednesday%2008-Sep-2021%2019.30%20Gravesham%20Joint%20Transportation%20Boar.pdf?T=9
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/b13963/Supplementary%20-%20MaaS%20Presentation%20Wednesday%2008-Sep-2021%2019.30%20Gravesham%20Joint%20Transportation%20Boar.pdf?T=9


Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 8.09.2021

3

 The Scheme was inclusive of the private sector; as part of phase two, KCC wanted 
electric taxis to join the MaaS app and offer their services to the people of 
Gravesham through the app 

 It was true that not everyone had smart phones or felt comfortable using smart apps 
but KCC wanted MaaS to be as inclusive as possible so a call centre would be set up 
for those they would not/could not use smart phones. The call centre could be 
contacted through a resident’s landline and multiple journeys could be booked in 
advance via the call centre. Further conversations were required with colleagues as 
to how those not using smart phones would be able to benefit from the proposed 
MaaS loyalty scheme; it would be picked up as part of the Schemes specification 

 The point of the MaaS consortium was to bring the different companies (public and 
private) together and agree to a shared arrangement and a commercial agreement 
as well as sign up to a MaaS code of conduct 

 The Legal Team were working on the code of conduct and had based it on the 
international MaaS Reliance code of conduct instead of the DFT, as originally 
planned, as they took too long to give a response 

 The cost of the MaaS Scheme was being finalised and would be part of the business 
case submitted to KCC’s DMT meeting in October so no details could be given at this 
time 

 MaaS was an emerging market in the UK but there were many organizations 
deploying MaaS in the international market. The Project Manager – Public Transport 
(KCC) had engaged with around thirty organizations that used MaaS and witnessed 
how the app worked and had reviewed case studies on the app in operation from 
around the world 

 The behavioural change campaign focused on explaining the benefits of using the 
MaaS app and next year messages would be released to inform more people of the 
benefits of making a change and not using a private car as their primary form of 
transport 

 The point of MaaS was to reduce the number of cars on the road in order to combat 
climate change as less cars meant less co2 emissions; there could be knock on 
effects to reducing the number of cars on the road such as increased speeding but 
the Project Manager – Public Transport (KCC) could not comment on that theory  

 Promoting carbon efficiency would form part of the requirement specification; it was 
KCC’s intention that each form of transport available for a journey would show how 
much co2 emission was emitted thus allowing the user to pick the most 
environmentally friendly mode of transport such as a train or e-bikes. In addition, the 
app would show the user how many calories they burned on their journeys 

 As part of phase two, the Project Manager – Public Transport (KCC) wanted the 
Gravesend/Tilbury ferry to be included in the app but conversations with the ferry had 
not started yet. Any further modes of river transport available from 2023 onwards 
such as the Thame Clippers would also be contacted to be apart of the MaaS app 

 As previously mentioned, the call centres would be the primary contact for elderly 
users that did not have smart phones or preferred talking to someone; the Project 
Manager – Public Transport (KCC) pointed out that due to Covid-19, the older 
generation had become more accepting of technology and it may not be as big as 
issue as it would have been years ago 

The Project Manager – Public Transport (KCC) thanked the Board for their time and asked 
that Members email her if they had any further questions after the meeting. 

The Chair thanked the Project Manager – Public Transport (KCC) for her presentation. 

Page 7



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 8.09.2021

4

5.2 Gravesham Highway Works Programme (Information only) 

The Board were presented with the Gravesham Highway Works Programme. 

As the Dartford & Gravesham District Manager was not in attendance to answer questions, 
the Board agreed to roll any questions over to the next Board meeting.  

5.3 Gravesend Bus Hub 

The Board was presented with a progress update on the Bus Hub Scheme at Barrack Row. 

As the Dartford & Gravesham District Manager was not in attendance to answer questions, 
the Board agreed to roll any questions over to the next Board meeting.  

The Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager informed the Board that he 
had received a partial response today concerning taxis being allowed trough the bus gate at 
Barrack Row. The Board were advised that KCC had sent details to the KCC TRO 
Coordinator, to detail how the ANPR enforcement would operate and if any modes or 
transport or vehicles would be exempt from the bus gate restriction. The Parking & 
Environmental Enforcement Services Manager proposed to KCC that cyclists and taxi 
drivers should be allowed through the bus gate; it was hoped that KCC would provide an 
answer to that proposal by the next Board meeting so that it could be reported to Members. 

5.4 Parking Amendment Order 

The Board were presented with the Parking Amendment Orders for Gravesham. 

The Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager informed the Board that the 
consultation to propose new parking restrictions and amendments to existing parking 
restrictions had been completed. The consultation started on 22 July 2021 and ran for the 
statutory twenty one days; during that time ten items of feedback were received from 
residents. None of the feedback raised any safety related objections and all feedback was 
responded too and was considered closed. The Boards support was sought to proceed with 
the proposals and implement the proposed changes. 

The Board support the proposed Parking Amendment Orders as outlined in in the report. 

Cllr Sullivan requested an update on the double yellow lines consultation on Packham Road. 

The Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager explained that he had spoken 
with the relevant TRO Coordinator last week who advised that he was waiting for the lining 
team to confirm a date when the lines would be installed. Once the lining work is completed 
KCC will ‘Make’ the Order and the restrictions will come into force. The TRO Coordinator 
had chased the issue several times already with the person responsible for the lining 
contract. The Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager advised that it would 
be best for Cllr Sullivan to contact Nicola Floodgate to get a better response on the matter.  

6. Issues raised by Councillors with the approval of the Chair 

Page 8



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 8.09.2021

5

In response to Cllr Meade’s question, the Chair advised that if a Member wanted to raise an 
issue then it should be raised with the Chair before the meeting so that it can be added to 
agenda and a response prepared. 

7. Any Other Business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
is of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

The Chair asked the Assistant director (IT & Transformation) if there would be an issue with 
KCC officers joining Gravesham JTB meetings virtually for future meetings. 

The Assistant Director (IT & Transformation) confirmed that it was not an issue and outside 
parties had joined the recent Climate Change meeting virtually. 

The Chair advised that he was also happy with GBC officers attending virtually as some of 
them had to travel very far to get home after an evening meeting. 

Cllr Meade informed the Board that KCC published a municipal calendar of meetings for the 
year to their website and he had noticed that the last two meeting of Gravesham JTB had 
been listed as non-public meetings. It was noted that Ashford’s JTB meetings had been 
marked as public and this raised concern as it meant that members of the public that may 
want to attend Gravesham JTB meetings are being turned away. 

Cllr Meade, through the Chair, asked that the Committee Team make contact with KCC to 
inquire why KCC aren’t publishing Gravesham JTB meetings as public meetings. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 20:29pm. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



MATTERS ARISING FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS

Please note that updates from appropriate officers are set out below the relevant action 
and any outstanding actions are highlighted in red.

At the request of County Cllr Sullivan, all of the Matters Arising from the meeting of 
Tuesday, 25 May 2021 have been rolled forward. 

As there was no KCC Officer attendance, the Matters Arising from the meeting of 
Wednesday, 08 September 2021 have been rolled forward. 

Minute 165.2 - Petition – Hamerton Road and Station Road – Request by Cllr Lauren 
Sullivan

Cllr Sullivan stated that it was unfortunate that funding had not been received for the 
“Dragons Den” style meeting which was confirmed by the Schemes project Manager (KCC). 
Cllr Sullivan requested that the officer continue to pursue future funding options to enable 
this scheme to be progressed. 

Claire provided LS with a design proposal to put to the residents under an informal 
consultation.  Ian Grigor new PM is due to carry forward LS requests.

Minute 150 – Highways Works Programme 2019/20 onwards Bus Hub at Garrick Street 

Following a question on an update with regard to taxies, the Parking & Environmental 
Enforcement Services Manager advised that the formal consultation had to be undertaken 
and the results of the consultation would be used to formulate how the Bus Hub progressed. 
The outcome of the consultation would be the subject of a report to a future meeting of the 
Board. 

Paper Update provided to JTB

Minute 159. - Gravesham Highways Forward Works Programme 2019/20 onwards 

Church Path/South Kent Avenue Lights The District Manager (Gravesham)(KCC) advised 
that the power box on South Kent Avenue had been made safe. With regard to the feeder 
post damage, parts had been ordered and their arrival was now imminent. the restrictions 
placed in Albion Terrace and Norfolk Road to the relevant Project Manager. 

Works to South Kent Avenue have been completed and the feeder pillar has been replaced. 

173. Reports from Officers 173.1 Bath Street - Fastrack Infrastructure Scheme

Following a question on whether the Red Route would be removed, the District Manager 
(Gravesham)(KCC) advised that the Red Route might be removed and could be replaced by 
one Fastrack. However, the officer undertook to check that this information was correct when 
he met with Graham Killick next week. The Chair requested that Graham Killick be invited to 
attend an appropriate future meeting of the Board. 

173.2 Highway Forward Works Programme - 2019/20 onwards

Page 11 Agenda Item 5



 The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) undertook to follow up on Priest Walk.
 An update was requested on the street light column replacement half lamp post in 

London Road St Marks and the District Manager (Gravesham)(KCC) agreed to look 
into this matter. 

 KCC had been in correspondence with the owners with regard to flooding outside the 
garage on Perry Street and a cleansing crew had been sent in. However, problems 
had been identified and KCC had had to block the access to the garage causing the 
situation to become heated. KCC was currently looking for a resolution to this issue 

Bullet point 2 – No update provided however this will be provided outside JTB 

Bullet Point 3 - The cleansing of the channel appears to have been undertaken. Stewards 
have visited 3 times and no water appears to be overflowing from the forecourt. This is still 
being monitored though to make sure there is not a recurrence 

174. Issues raised by Councillors with the approval of the Chair 

(a) Presentation on Whitehill and Sun Lane Traffic Issues – Cllr Tony Rana

The Schemes Project Manager (KCC) thanked Cllr Rana for his presentation and reported 
that at ATC had been requested on these routes (including Sun Hill) which would take place 
in the next three months and the results would include any speeding issues, capacity etc. 
She explained that an ATC was a traffic count over the period of a week which also counted 
different categories of vehicle i.e. car, van, bus, lorry etc. It was agreed that the results of the 
ATC be shared with Cllr Rana. It was noted that the officer had previously discussed this 
matter with Cllr Ridgers and Cllr Morton. 

Cllr Rana was invited to a site meeting with the District Manager (KCC) and the Schemes 
Project Manager (KCC) and it was suggested the site visit take place at peak usage times 
such as the rush hour and school drop off/pick up. 

The Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager offered to attend the site 
meeting in his parking and enforcement role. The Parking & Environmental Enforcement 
Services Manager also noted that he managed patrols to check on parking issues around 
local school and undertook to check with regard to Whitehill School and would send any 
appropriate information to Cllr Rana.

Following a suggestion by Cllr Rana about alterations to the bus route, the Schemes Project 
Manager (KCC) undertook to contact Arriva to discuss. 

The Schemes Project Manager (KCC) noted that the presentation had mentioned the 
existence of video recordings of speeding incidents and Cllr Rana offered to speak with the 
resident with a view to KCC officers having sight of these. 

The District Manager (KCC) supported the holistic approach as suggested in the 
presentation and noted that off-street parking in this area needed planning permission to be 
sought from the Borough Council. However, he undertook to take this forward together with 
potential improvements in on-street parking arrangements and would submit a report 
containing options to a future meeting of the Board.

ATC survey took place the week commencing 19th March on Sun Lane and Whitehill, results 
have been shared with Cllr T Rana on the 23rd April.  

Page 12



A full site walkthrough took place on the 29th of April 2021 with Schemes Project Manager 
KCC, District Manager KCC, District Engineer KCC, Cllr T Rana and Cllr Morley.  Site follow 
up email sent to Councillors on the 10th May.

Awaiting Ordnance Survey Data for Southern end of Whitehill, KCC will share once 
available. 

(b) Issues regarding Lower Higham Road, Chalk Road, Havisham Road and Orlick 
Road – Cllr Leslie Hills

The Chair requested that Cllr Hills and appropriate officers meet to discuss this matter. 

The District Manager (Gravesham) reported that he had looked into the source and reasons 
for the water on the footpath. Slab removal and replacement with tarmac had been 
programmed and the drain would be relocated. The officer noted that the new budgets would 
become available in April. 

Double yellow line and collision data review ongoing.  The three roads have been added to 
the DYL monitoring list any supporting evidence is to be sent to the Schemes Project 
manager to log.

175.  Any Other Business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is of 
the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency.

The Committee Services Officer undertook to email the information to appropriate officers

The Committee Services Officer emailed the Gravesham Cycling Forum following the 
meeting and invited them to attend the next meeting of Gravesham Joint Transportation 
Board on 25 May 2021. 

Matters Arising – Points raised during the meeting of Tuesday, 25 
May 2021

Minute 174 (b) – Issues regarding Lower Higham Road, Chalk Road, Havisham Road 
and Orlick Road– Cllr Leslie Hills 

Cllr Hills requested an update for when the ‘Keep Clear’ road marking would be placed 
outside 154 Lower Higham Road as the disabled resident in that premises was still having to 
put up with vehicles parked at the bottom of his properties steps. Cllr Hills advised that the 
District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) had previously said KCC were waiting for better 
weather, but Cllr Hills requested a date that he could feed back to his constituent. 

The Chair agreed that the matter would be raised with the District Manager – Gravesham 
(KCC) and the Schemes Project Manager (KCC).

No further update available. 

Previous set of Gravesham JTB Minutes 02 December 2020 - 159. Gravesham 
Highway Forward Works Programme -2019/20onwards – Old Road East 

County Cllr Ridgers advised that a resident on Old Road East contacted the Board last year 
about speeding vehicles on Old Road East which had been left without a resolution. The 
District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) was asked to respond to the resident in question as 

Page 13



County Cllr Ridgers had agreed to use some of his Member fund to pay for a traffic survey 
however neither the resident nor County Cllr Ridgers received a response.  

County Cllr Ridgers advised that the resident had written three more times and the Schemes 
Project Manager (KCC) had been contacted who had promised she would look into the 
issue. County Cllr Ridgers requested an update form KCC on the matter at the next Board 
meeting. 

Whitehill Road – Right turn buildout enhancement is currently being designed by one of our 
engineers. 

 Sun Lane – crossing enhancements at the roundabout with Kitchener avenue, design due for 
checking Aug 21.

 The roundabout at Old Road East/White Hill Road configuration – could be put forward for Local 
Transport Plan funding LTP for a possible 22/23 scheme.  This is subject to the new PM Ian’s 
overview.

Minute 150 – Highways Works Programme 2019/20 onwards Bus Hub at Garrick Street

Cllr Khabra requested an update on whether or not taxis would be allowed to pass through 
the bus gate in Garrick Street. 

The Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager advised that he had requested 
a meeting with KCC to through discuss how the bus gate would operate, but a response had 
not been received yet. The bus hub was not going live until November 2021 so there was 
still time to get processes in place. 

No further update available. 

173. Reports from Officers 

Kent Highways Update Report 

The Committee were presented with an update report from KCC Highways on the 
Transportation and Safety Schemes and the Combined Member Grant Programme. 

County Cllr Sullivan suggested that when the KCC officers could not attend the Board 
meeting, a more senior officer such as Simon Jones should be invited to attend. 

No further update available. 

Matters Arising – Points raised during the meeting of Wednesday, 
08 September 2021 

5. Matters Arising from Previous Meetings 

Cllr Hills raised concern regarding the walkway outside of 203 Lower Higham Road as the 
repair work that was promised to be completed by July 2021 had not been carried out; the 
previous minutes reflected the original concern raised by Cllr Hills. Cllr Hills advised that the 
owner of 203 Lower Higham Road had passed away, but the pavement still posed a 
significant danger to pedestrians that had to walk over it, particularly with winter approaching 

Page 14



as there was the potential for ice to form where the water had built up. Cllr Hills had also 
spoken to Claire Venner about the issue and been promised a response. 

District Manager and Engineer to visit site and defect works as this should have ben 
completed as promised

The Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager informed the Board that Claire 
Venner had left KCC and taken up a new role at Tonbridge & Malling Council. The Parking & 
Environmental Enforcement Services Manager promised to circulate details of her 
replacement to the Board once he had them. 

Ian Grigor is the New Schemes Planning and Delivery Project Manager

Following a discussion by the Board, concerning the lack of KCC officers in attendance to 
answer important questions, it was agreed that an email would be sent to the Chief 
Executive (GBC) detailing the Boards concerns around the lack of KCC officer attendance 
and lack of responses to issues raised by Members. The Board requested that the email of 
concern be forwarded to the Chief Executive (KCC) by the Chief Executive (GBC) along with 
the minutes/matters arising of this meeting attached to the email with a request to have 
responses to each outstanding action. 

“On 02 September a letter was sent to Simon Jones from Stuart Bobby highlighting the 
Chair’s and the Board’s concerns at the recent lack of attendance by KCC officers, also 
included were the relevant outstanding KCC agenda items that required KCC input.

Stuart Bobby has not had a formal reply as yet but he has had discussions/meetings with 
Simon Jones on other matters in the meantime.  During these unrelated discussions, JTB 
was briefly discussed and Simon Jones indicated that he was prepared to exercise some 
flexibility on KCC Officers attending in person meetings as well as confirming he would 
formally reply to the letter.  Stuart Bobby has made Simon Jones aware that the JTB of 1 
December will be held in person and has reminded Simon Jones of those comments; 
requesting therefore that KCC Officers are present at the meeting on 1 December in person.  
At the time of writing this update confirmation had not yet been received back in relation to 
that request.”

8a. Gravesend Bus Hub 

The Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager informed the Board that he 
had received a partial response today concerning taxis being allowed trough the bus gate at 
Barrack Row. The Board were advised that KCC had sent details to the KCC TRO 
Coordinator, to detail how the ANPR enforcement would operate and if any modes or 
transport or vehicles would be exempt from the bus gate restriction. The Parking & 
Environmental Enforcement Services Manager proposed to KCC that cyclists and taxi 
drivers should be allowed through the bus gate; it was hoped that KCC would provide an 
answer to that proposal by the next Board meeting so that it could be reported to Members. 

No further update available. 

8. Parking Amendment Order 

Page 15



The Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager explained that he had spoken 
with the relevant TRO Coordinator last week who advised that he was waiting for the lining 
team to confirm a date when the lines  would be installed. Once the lining work is completed 
KCC will ‘Make’ the Order and the restrictions will come into force. The TRO Coordinator 
had chased the issue several times already with the person responsible for the lining 
contract. The Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager advised that it would 
be best for Cllr Sullivan to contact Nicola Floodgate to get a better response on the matter.  

No further update available. 

12. AOB 

Cllr Meade, through the Chair, asked that the Committee Team make contact with KCC to 
inquire why KCC aren’t publishing Gravesham JTB meetings as public meetings. 

KCC Democratic Services Team advised that the calendar of meetings on their website only 
listed the date/time of JTB meetings; it was not their practice to advise whether it was public 
or private.   

Page 16



To:             Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 

By:             KCC Highways, Transportation & Waste

Date: 1st December 2021

Subject:  Highway Forward Works Programme – 2021/22 onwards

Classification: Information Only 

Summary: This report updates Members on the identified schemes approved for construction

1. Introduction 

This report provides an update and summarises schemes that have been programmed for delivery in 
2021/22.

Kent County Council has agreed a substantial increase in the budget for planned highway works over 
the next three years, and as a result we are still in the process of identifying and designing schemes 
for inclusion in our full Year One to Two (2019/20 and 2020/21) and Year Three to Five (2021/22 to 
2023/24) programmes. Because of this, we have decided to publish an interim programme, and to 
publish the full programmes later this year.  For some assets this interim programme covers 
approximately the first six months of 2019/20, whilst for others it includes most of the works planned 
for the whole year.

This programme is subject to regular review and may change for a number of reasons including 
budget allocation, contract rate changes, and to reflect KCC’s changing priorities. The programme 
and extent of individual sites within the programme may also be revised following engineering 
assessment during the design phase. 

Road, Footway & Cycleway Renewal and Preservation Schemes – see Appendix A

Drainage Repairs & Improvements – see Appendix B

Street Lighting – see Appendix C

Transportation and Safety Schemes – see Appendix D
 Casualty Reduction Measures
 Externally funded schemes
 Local Growth Fund 

Developer Funded Works – see Appendix E

Bridge Works – see Appendix F

Traffic Systems – see Appendix G

Combined Member Fund – see Appendix H

Conclusion 

1. This report is for Members’ information.

Page 17 Agenda Item 9a



Contact Officers:

The following contact officers can be contacted on 03000 418181
 
Richard Emmett  Highway Manager West Kent
Kevin Gore Gravesham District Manager
Alan Casson                    Senior Asset Manager
Earl Bourner     Drainage & Structures Asset Manager
Sue Kinsella Street Light Asset Manager
Toby Butler Traffic & Network Solutions Asset Manager
Jamie Hare Development Agreements Manager
Jamie Watson Schemes Programme Manager

Page 18



Appendix A – Road, Footway and Cycleway Renewal and Preservation Scheme

The delivery of these schemes is weather dependent; should it prove not possible to carry out these 
works on the planned dates, new dates will be arranged and the residents will be informed by a letter 
drop to their homes.

COVID-19 – Unless otherwise stated in the status column the below schemes are currently sanctioned to 
continue as the operating procedures can be undertaken in line with current Government and Construction 

Leadership Council advice.  
We will continue to take note and adjust to any changes in this advice, so there is a possibility that these works 

may be postponed at very short notice.
We take the wellbeing of the public and our workforce extremely seriously, and please be assured we have put 

in place all mitigating measures necessary to abide by the guidance currently in place.

Machine Resurfacing – Contact Officer Mr Byron Lovell

Road Name Parish Extent of Works Current Status

A227 Wrotham 
Road Gravesend 

Full Reconstruction
Old Road West to Wingfield 

Road  
Completed

Footway Improvement - Contact Officer Mr Neil Tree

Road Name Parish Extent of Works Current Status

Tennyson Walk Northfleet Footway Resurfacing
Full Extent

Designed and programmed to 
commence on

10th January 2022.

Cirrus Crescent Gravesend
Footway Resurfacing

Full Extent
Designed and programmed to 

commence on
15th November 2022.

Lynton Road 
South Gravesend Footway Resurfacing

Full Extent
To be Designed and 

Programmed.

Thong Lane   
Gravesend Gravesend

Footway Resurfacing
From the junction with 

Rochester Rd to Leander 
Drive.

Works postponed due to Gas 
main replacements in Thong 

Lane.

Valley Drive Gravesend

Footway Resurfacing
Sections between the Jesus 

Victory Centre to St. Benedicts 
Avenue.

Works postponed due to Gas 
main replacements in Valley 

Drive.

A227 Wrotham 
Road Gravesend

Footway Resurfacing
Sections between, Old Road 

West to Wingfield Road
Completed

Manor Road Cobham Footway Protection Treatment
Full extents Completed

Timber Banks 
(Phase 1) Vigo

Footway Protection Treatment
From the junction of Waterlow 

Road to Woodside
Completed

Page 19



Cruden Road Gravesend
Footway Protection Treatment
From the junction of Medhurst 

Gardens to Cervia Way
Completed

Downs Wood Vigo Footway Protection Treatment
Full extent Completed

Woodside Vigo Footway Protection Treatment
Full extent Completed

Surface Treatments - Contact Officer Mr Jonathan Dean

Vicarage Lane Gravesend Lower Higham Road to Priests 
Walk (Both sections) Completed

Villa Road Higham A226 Gravesend Road to 
School Lane Completed

Lower Rochester 
Road Higham Two Gates Hill to Cherry 

Garden Cottages Completed

Henhurst Road 
(Inc Jeskyns Road 
& The Street)

Cobham From road over rail bridge 
(Church Road) to Battle Street Completed

Chalk Road Gravesend Lower Higham Road to A226 
Rochester Road Completed

David Street Harvel From Harvel Lane to Horns 
Oak Road Completed

Forge Lane Higham Acme Wines to A226 
Gravesham Road Completed

Erskine Road 
(Commority Road) Vigo Harvel Road to Harvel Road Completed

Page 20



Appendix B – Drainage Repairs & Improvements
 

Drainage Repairs & Improvements - Contact Officer Earl Bourner
 

Road Name Parish Description of Works Current Status

Bracondale 
Avenue Istead Rise

Whole road including junction 
with A227. Drainage 

improvement comprising 
additional soakaways to reduce 

risk of surface water flooding 
within the road

Works Completed. 
Permanent reinstatement of 
concrete road to follow once 

gas works are completed.

A227 
Wrotham 

Road
Istead Rise

Drainage improvement local to 
junction with Bracondale Avenue 

(linked to Bracondale Avenue 
Scheme)

Works are to be phased 
around the gas works. First 
phase commenced prior to 

gas works starting.

Whitepost 
Lane Culverstone Junction with Carters Hill Lane. 

Improve existing drainage

Main soakaway works 
completed. Outstanding 

installation of ‘deep bore’ in 
soakaway due to plant 
breakdown. This will be 
reprogrammed in due 

course.

Factory Road Northfleet Investigation of flooding outside 
school. 

Highway soakaway located 
on private land and partially 
cleansed. Confined space 

access crew unable to 
complete due to chamber 
filling up from water leak. 

Southern Water have been 
chased for a repair date. 

Timber Bank Vigo

Drainage repair works and 
soakaway cleansing throughout 
road to resolve minor defects in 

pipes, mainly from tree root 
damage. Most remedial work to 

existing drainage complete. 
Further drainage improvement 
scheme currently in progress.

Outline flood mitigation 
report completed. Further 

surveys for unmapped 
services completed 6th 

August. Awaiting results to 
inform detailed design then 
consult with Parish Council.

School Lane Higham Scheme to reduce flood risk local 
to junction with St. Johns Road. Works Completed

Whitepost 
Lane Culverstone Flooding at junction with Meadow 

Lane

Design completed. Job order 
being raised to handover to 

contractor under a road 
closure. Date Still TBC.

Page 21



Appendix C – Street Lighting

Structural testing of KCC owned illuminated sign has identified the following as requiring replacement. 
A status of complete identifies that the column replacement has been carried out. Programme dates 
are identified for those still requiring replacement. 

Street Lighting Column Replacement – Contact Officer Sue Kinsella

Road Name Parish Description of Works Status

Alfred Place

Coldharbour Structural L/Col replacement x 1 Due for 
Completion by 
end December 
2021

Hall Rd N/Fleet South Structural L/Col replacement x 2 Complete

Lower Rd Northfleet Structural L/Col replacement x 1 Complete

Ordnance Rd

Riverside Structural L/Col replacement x 1 Due for 
Completion by 
end December 
2021

Vale Rd

N/Fleet South Structural L/Col replacement x 1 Due for 
Completion by 
end December 
2021

Vale Rd 

N/Fleet South 2 x new services Due for 
Completion by 
end December 
2021

Windmill Street 

Gravesend Structural L/Col replacement x 1 Due for 
Completion by 
end December 
2021

Pelham Road

Gravesend 1 x New School Crossing Wigwag Due for 
Completion by 
end December 
2021

Pelham Road

Gravesend 1 x new sign and light Due for 
Completion by 
end December 
2021

Page 22



Appendix D – Transportation and Safety Schemes

Casualty Reduction Measures

The Schemes Planning & Delivery team is implementing schemes within Gravesham Borough, in 
order to meet Kent County Council’s (KCC) strategic targets (for example, addressing traffic 
congestion or improving road safety).  Casualty reduction measures have been identified to address a 
known history of personal injury crashes. Current status correct as of 23rd November 2021.

Local Transport Plan funded schemes – Contact Officer: Ian Grigor

Road Name Description of Works Current Status

Casualty reduction measures (reactive) – Gravesham

B261 Old Road West 
mini roundabout j/w 
Pelham Road

Roundabout realignment Proposed scheme is not being progressed as 
this site is no longer on the latest collision 
cluster site list. Contribution given to Road & 
Footway Asset Team for resurfacing at this 
location.

A226 London Road j/w 
Pier Road 

Lining re-fresh Works currently programmed to be 
undertaken as part of the proposed 
Department for Transport Active Travel Fund 
Tranche 2 scheme (subject to this being 
progressed).

A2 Watling Street j/w 
Three Crutches 
Roundabout

Signing and lining.  To be 
addressed alongside 
Parkfields scheme

Works currently programmed to start on site 
week commencing 06/12/2021. Anticipated 
duration up to one week (night working only).

LTP Schemes Gravesham

The Street – Cobham Feasibility – Possible footway 
widening and/or priority 
system re-design.

Works currently programmed to start on site 
during February 2022 half-term under a road 
closure. 

Externally Funded Schemes

The Schemes Planning & Delivery team is implementing schemes within the borough of Gravesham 
funded by external corporations whilst still meeting KCC’s strategic targets with the road network. 

Externally Funded Schemes – Contact Officer: Grant Kennaird

Road Name Description of 
Works

Source of 
Funding Current Status

Ebbsfleet 
Direction Signs

Design and 
implementation of 
Advanced Direction 
Signs (ADS) & 
Direction Signs to 
include the wording 
‘Ebbsfleet Garden 
City’.

Ebbsfleet 
Development 
Company

On hold as this scheme is to be 
completed in stages along with the 
house build programme.

Page 23



Local Growth Fund

Local Growth Fund programme update for Gravesham Borough

The Department for Transport (DfT) added £100m to the Local Growth Fund (LGF) pot in order to 
fund Local Sustainable Transport Fund Style schemes.  KCC subsequently submitted four Local 
Sustainable Transport Fund (LSTF) capital bids 1) East Kent – A network for Growth, 2) Kent 
Thameside – Integrated door-to-door journeys and 3) West Kent – Tackling Congestion.  The fourth 
was for Tonbridge Town Centre Regeneration, which included a highway improvements scheme in 
the Lower High Street as well as additional LSTF style measures.  The objective of all of the capital 
bids is to boost economic growth by decreasing carbon emissions and reducing congestion.

The Kent Thameside, West Kent and Tonbridge Town Centre Regeneration bids were all successful. 
The schemes aim to:

 improve access to employment and services
 reduce the need to travel by the private car
 enhance pedestrian, cycle and public transport facilities
 improve sustainable transport connections

The following schemes have been submitted as part of the successful Kent Thameside LSTF this 
financial year.

Scheme Status
Cycle Hub to Cyclopark cycle 
route – a signed route between the 
cycle hub and Cyclopark which is 
suitable for less confident cyclists.

The consultation report was published on 22nd October and can be 
found at the KCC directory 
www.kent.gov.uk/gravesendcycleroutephase2    Detailed design 
completed and handover pack with Amey. 3 x cycle counters have 
now been installed to collect pre-scheme and post scheme data. 
There was a slight delay with the contractors, but construction 
started at the end March 2020.  The major civils improvements in 
New House Lane, Coldharbour Road and Dashwood Park are now 
completed.  A wayfinding sign will be installed in December at the 
Cyclopark end of the route. Three cycle counters along the route for 
post monitoring have now been reinstated following construction 
period.

Bus Hub – Barrack Row KCC have acquired land from Network Rail in Barrack Row for the 
creation of a Bus Hub which aims to consolidate the bus stops 
around the Station and improve the waiting facilities for the public.  
Initial investigations identified issues with the tracking and swept 
paths this was investigated, and the design altered to have 4 stops 
in Barrack Row and Fastrack and Sapphire services stopping in 
Garrick Street.   A Members briefing paper was sent out on 3rd 
June 2019 to all members to inform of the scheme. A meeting with 
the GAG took place on 3rd June 2019 followed by an engagement 
event on 13th June 2019, all feedback was reviewed and 
considered. The design was presented to JTB in Sept 2019.   
Layout of the scheme is now confirmed. The Bus hub (Barrack Row 
and Garrick Street) are now one scheme.  The contract was 
awarded to FM Conway and construction commenced in May 2021 
with a 10-month construction period. Planning Permission was 
approved for the Canopies/shelters and two electric bus 
pantographs down charging poles with cantilever arms, the public 
realm and landscaping has also been included. KCC are working 

Page 24

http://www.kent.gov.uk/gravesendcycleroutephase2


with GBC to help facilitate the future installation of a toilet facility by 
Gravesham, this will ensure that it doesn’t require additional 
groundwork and removal of the granite paving. A detailed briefing 
was provided for Members in September 2021 and the offer of a 
site visit if required. All bus stops will be temporarily moved to 
Barrack Row/Clive Road in early/mid-December to accommodate 
the start of construction in Garrick Street. KCC are working with 
FMC, GBC & the Bus Companies to ensure the public are kept 
informed of these changes in good time. FMC provide a regular 
newsletter to update on construction and these can be found at: 
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/road-projects/in-progress-
road-projects/gravesend-bus-hub#tab-3    The programme is on 
track for a completion in early February 2022.

  

Page 25

https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/road-projects/in-progress-road-projects/gravesend-bus-hub#tab-3
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/road-projects/in-progress-road-projects/gravesend-bus-hub#tab-3


Appendix E – Developer Funded Works

Developer Funded Works (Section 278 Agreement Works) – Contact Officer Aaron Divall

Scheme Name Mastergov 
File Ref No

Parish Description of Works Current Status

Wimbourne 
House, Truro 

Road, Gravesend
GR003005 Gravesend

Extension of footpath from 
Bellmouth for 

approximately 50m in 
direction of Valley Drive

Passed to Bellevail for 
completion

BP Tollgate 
Station, Wrotham 
Road, Northfleet GR003009 Northfleet Creation of new access to 

serve BP Tollgate Station
Still awaiting further 
contact/ planning

Ebbsfleet United 
FC GR003013 Northfleet Footway works for new 

entrance

main s278 works delayed

Lion Roundabout GR003017 Gravesend

Realignment of 
roundabout, removal of 
planters, upgrading of 

pelican crossing to toucan 
and instillation of joint 

footway/cycleway around 
roundabout

Maintenance Ended, final 
defect list issued

Springhead Road 
junction with 
A2260

GR003020

Gravesend
Swanscomb

e
Ebbsfleet

New Access onto A2260 
from Springhead Works practically complete

Allens Mead GR003024 Gravesend Tie in from Dalefield Way 
development In maintenance

Crete Hall Road GR003057 Northfleet

Entrance to new 
development incorporating 
realignment of Crete Hall 

Road

Works started

Crete Hall Road GR003239 Northfleet Entrance to new Berkley 
Factory Works mostly complete

Coldharbour 
Road GR003271 Northfleet New combined cycleway / 

footway
Works Complete, defect 

list issued

Thames Way, GR003367 Northfleet

Berkley Modular Abnormal 
load strategy, minor 

alterations to signals on 
route

Agreement Signed

Page 26



Coldharbour 
Road (Lidl) GR003037 Northfleet

New Footway/ Cycleway 
by developer and works to 

Wrotham Road to be 
completed by Highways 

England agreement

Works complete, defects 
list issued

Harbour View GR003038 Northfleet New footway along 
frontage of single dwelling

Works complete, in 
maintenance

St Georges 
School GR003213 Northfleet Footway Crossing for 

Private Footway
Works complete, defects 

issued

Page 27



Appendix F – Bridge Works

Bridge Works – Contact Officer: Earl Bourner

Road Name Parish Description of Works Current Status

No works planned

Page 28



Appendix G – Traffic Systems

There is a programme of scheduled maintenance to refurbish life expired traffic signal equipment across 
the county based upon age and fault history. The delivery of these schemes is dependent upon school 
terms and holiday periods; local residents, businesses and schools will be informed verbally and by a 
letter drop of the exact dates when known. 

Traffic Systems - Contact Officer: Toby Butler
 

Location Description of Works Current Status

No schemes planned

Page 29



Appendix H - Combined Member Grant programme update 
  
Member Highway Fund programme update for the Gravesham Borough 

The following schemes are those, which have been approved for funding by both the relevant 
Member and by Simon Jones, Director of Highways, Transportation and Waste. The list only includes 
schemes, which are 

 in design 
 at consultation stage
 about to be programmed
 Recently completed on site. 

The list is up to date as of 23rd November 2021.

The details given below are for highway projects only.  This report does not detail 
 Contributions Members have made to other groups such as parish councils
 highway studies
 traffic/ non-motorised user surveys funded by Members.  

More information on the schemes listed below can be found by contacting the District Manager for the 
Gravesham Borough. 

Bryan Sweetland
Details of Scheme Status

No schemes planned 

Alan Ridgers
Details of Scheme Status

No schemes planned

John Burden / Lauren Sullivan
Details of Scheme Status

No schemes planned

Page 30



1.1 Legal Implications

1.1.1 Not applicable.

1.2 Financial and Value for Money Considerations

1.2.1 Not applicable.

1.3 Risk Assessment

1.3.1 Not applicable.

Contacts: Richard Emmett / Kevin Gore 03000 418181

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



1

To:            Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 

By: Andrew Loosemore – Head of Highway Asset 
Management

Date: November 2021

Subject: Local Winter Service Plan

Classification: Information only

Summary:  This report outlines the arrangements that have been made 
between Kent County Council and Gravesham Borough Council to 
provide a local winter service in the event of an operational snow alert in 
the borough/district

1. Introduction

1 (1) Kent County Council Highways, Transportation & Waste (KCC 
HTW) takes its winter service responsibilities very seriously and is 
proactive as well as reactive to winter weather conditions.  Winter service 
costs KCC in the region of £3,498,800.m every winter and needs careful 
management to achieve safety for the travelling public and to be efficient. 
The Highways Operations teams in HTW work to ensure that the winter 
service standards and decisions made are consistent across the whole 
county.  

1(2) HTW prepares an annual Winter Service policy and plan which are 
used to determine actions that will be taken to manage its winter service 
operations. The policy was presented to the Environment and Transport 
Cabinet Committee on 8th September 2021 and subsequently approved by 
the Cabinet Member. 

2. District based winter service plans

2(1) The Local Winter Service Plan for the Gravesham District is a working 
document which will evolve and be revised as necessary throughout the 
year.  This document complements the KCC Winter Service Policy and 
Plan 2021/22; the Policy is available on the KCC website.

2(2) Following successful work in previous years with district councils, 
arrangements have again been put in place this year whereby labour from 
district councils can be used during snow days. Additionally, HTW will 
supply a quantity of a salt/sand mixture to district councils to use on the 
highway network. The details are contained in the plan which enhances 

Page 33 Agenda Item 9b



2

the work that HTW will continue to do in providing a countywide winter 
service. The local plan comes into effect when a snow emergency is 
declared that affects the district of Gravesham

http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-
and-highways-policies/winter-service-policy

3. Pavement clearance

3 (3) Areas for clearing pavements have been identified in the local plan. 
These are the areas where local knowledge has indicated that people are 
concerned and would most like to be kept clear when there is snow and 
ice. 

4. Farmers 

4(1) The work that our contracted farmers have done in recent years is 
greatly appreciated and has made a big difference in keeping rural areas 
clear on snow days. Again, this year farmers will have predetermined local 
routes and will use their own tractor and KCC ploughs for clearing snow. 
The ploughs supplied are serviced by KCC each year. Each farmer will 
have plans detailing the roads that that they are responsible for ploughing.   
When snow reaches a depth of 50mm on roads in their areas the farmers 
will commence ploughing notifying KCC as agreed in their contract. A list 
of farmers and their contact details can be found in the local plan, 
(although some personal information will not be available via this report or 
the website due to General Data Protection Regulations).

5. Conclusion

5(1) Working in partnership with the district councils will enable HTW to 
provide an effective winter service across the county. 

6. Recommendations

6(1) Members are asked to note this report.
______________________________________________________________

Background documents: 
Kent County Council Winter Service Policy and Plan 2021/22

Contact officer: Kevin Gore Tel: 03000 41 81 81

Page 34

http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/winter-service-policy
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/winter-service-policy


Page 35 Agenda Item 10



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Matters Arising from Previous Meetings
	9a Gravesham Highway Forward Works Programme - 2021/22 onwards
	9b Local Winter Service Plan
	10 Petition - Painters Ash Primary School



